2002

J. Pochynok Company, Inc. v. Gregory Smedsrud, Louann Smedsrud : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case, Course Of Proceedings, And Disposition Below

Pochynok Company, a general contractor, brought suit against the Smedsruds seeking to recover damages for breach of a construction contract and to foreclose its mechanics lien. The Smedsruds asserted a counterclaim also seeking damages for breach of the construction contract. Prior to the jury trial, the Smedsruds made an offer of judgment to Pochynok Company in the amount of \$40,000.00. The offer of judgment was not accepted and the matter proceeded to trial. At trial, the jury found in favor of Pochynok Company awarding \$7,076.56. The jury awarded nothing on the Smedsruds' claims.

Pochynok Company and the Smedsruds each filed post trial motions asserting that they were the successful party at trial and sought costs and attorneys fees pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 31-1-18. The Smedsruds argued that they were entitled to their attorney fees because they were the "successful party" in the litigation in accordance with § 38-1-18(1). Moreover, the Smedsruds asserted that they were entitled to their attorney fees and costs under § 38-1-18(3) because the amount of the jury award was lower than the Smedsruds' offer of judgment.

Pochynok Company responded to the Smedsruds' claims by contending that the "offer of judgment" language, which was added to the statute during the course of this litigation, was not applicable to this case because the change to the statute was a substantive rather than procedural change. Pochynok Company further argued that the "offer of judgment" provision of the statute was of no consequence even if it was

retroactively applied to this case, because as the only party to be awarded by the jury, Pochynok Company was in fact the “successful party” in the litigation, and therefore entitled to its attorneys fees under § 31-1-18(1). The jury award when combined with Pochynok Company’s attorney fees that Pochynok Company was entitled to under the statute, exceeded the offer of judgment made by the Smedsruks. Consequently, attorneys’ fees would not be available to the Smedsruks under subsection (3).

The trial court ruled that the present version of § 31-1-18 was applicable to the case, that the Smedsruks were the successful parties at trial, and therefore the Smedsruks were entitled to their costs and attorneys fees. A Rule 59 motion to amend the judgment was subsequently filed by Pochynok Company. The motion was denied by the trial court.

The Smedsruks subsequently sought to garnish funds in Pochynok Company’s bank account. Pochynok Company opposed the garnishment on the basis that the funds in Pochynok Company’s account were owned by Pochynok Company’s then current project owner, which project owner had deposited the funds into the account with the direction that subcontractors who had completed work on the project be paid with those funds. In fact, the checking account had been established by Pochynok Company specifically for this project owner’s development. Moreover, the funds were disbursed into Pochynok Company’s account with specific direction by the project owner to pay designated subcontractors, and Pochynok Company had in fact issued checks to pay those subcontractors before the Writ Of Garnishment was served on Pochynok Company’s bank. Notwithstanding the fact that the funds could be directly traced to the project owner, and despite the fact that those funds had been designated by the project owner to

pay subcontractors, and had not been commingled with any other funds, the trial court found that the garnishment was proper. Pochynok Company filed a Rule 59 motion for new trial on the garnishment issue. The trial court denied this motion.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. In this action, Pochynok Company brought a breach of construction contract claim against the Smedsruks and sought to foreclose a mechanic's lien on real property owned by the Smedsruks. (R. 1-8)

2. On May 9, 2002, pursuant to § 38-1-18(3), the Smedsruks submitted an offer of judgment to Pochynok Company in the amount of \$40,000.00. (R. 408)

3. The "offer of judgment" language was added to § 38-1-18(3) during the course of this litigation. (See footnote to Section 38-1-18, Utah Code Annotated (1953))

4. The Smedsruks' offer of judgment was not accepted by Pochynok Company. (R. 391 at ¶5)

5. The matter was presented to a jury on May 21 and 22, 2002. (R. 249-250)

6. At the conclusion of the evidence, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Pochynok Company in the amount of \$7,076.56. (R. 354-355)

7. Pochynok Company and The Smedsruks both filed post-trial motions requesting attorneys fees on the basis that each respective party was the "successful party" in the lien foreclosure action pursuant to § 38-1-18(1). Pochynok Company and the Smedsruks also contested whether the newly enacted subsection (3) to § 38-1-18 was retroactively applicable to this case. (R. 387-389, 435-459, 469-470, 544-554, 567-592, 598-609, 650-686, and 706-718)

8. Notwithstanding the fact that jury returned a verdict in favor of Pochynok Company and against the Smedsruds, the trial court ruled in favor of the Smedsruds, finding that the Smedsruds were the successful party and therefore entitled to recover their costs and fees. (R. 621-622 and 726-727)

9. Judgment was entered in favor of the Smedsruds on August 13, 2002. Pochynok Company's Motion To Amend Judgment was denied on October 7, 2002. (R. 635-640 and 729-731)

10. On September 12, 2002, funds in a Pochynok Company bank account were garnished by the Smedsruds in the amount of \$37,585.00. (R. 703-705)

11. Prior to the garnishment being filed, on September 6, 2002, the owner of Pochynok Company's then current construction project wired \$35,253.49 into Pochynok Company's account. This account was established to be used solely with this owner's project. (R. 762, 766-769)

12. Before the September 6, 2002 wire was received, the balance in Pochynok Company's account was approximately \$3,307.66. After the wire was received, Pochynok Company's account balance was approximately \$38,461.18. (R. 766-769)

13. On September 6, 2002, the project owner sent Pochynok Company a wire confirmation. This confirmation set forth the total amount of money that was wired into the account, and designated which subcontractors were to be paid with the construction funds. (R. 760, 766-769)

14. Between September 7, 2002 and September 12, 2002, no deposits were made into Pochynok Company's account. (R. 768)

15. On September 10, 2002, Pochynok Company disbursed checks payable to two subcontractors in amounts totaling \$29,500.00. These checks bounced because the money in Pochynok Company's account was garnished. (R. 766-769)

16. The construction funds which were garnished were not owned by Pochynok Company, and were provided by the project owner to be used to pay for work that had been completed on the owner's project. (R. 766-769)

17. Because of the garnishment, the owner's funds which were intended to be used to pay the subcontractors were diverted to the the Smedsruks, and were therefore not available for payment as directed by the project owner. (R. 766-769)

18. The trial court denied Pochynok Company's objection to the garnishment, and subsequent request for new trial on the garnishment issue. (R. 728 and 849-851)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred when it determined Pochynok Company was not the successful party in the litigation. Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 31-1-18(1), "Except as provided in § 38-11-107 and in subsection (2), in any action brought to enforce any lien under this chapter, the successful party shall be entitled to recover a reasonable attorneys' fee, to be fixed by the court, which shall be taxed as costs in the action." The Utah decision of *A.K. & R. Whipple Plumbing and Heating v. Guy*, 47 P.3d 92 (Utah Ct. App. 2002) explains that determining the prevailing party for purposes of awarding fees and costs is quite simple. Plaintiff sues defendant for money damages; if plaintiff is awarded a judgment, plaintiff has prevailed, and if defendant successfully defends and avoids an adverse judgment, defendant has prevailed. In this matter, Pochynok Company sued

defendant for money damages and Pochynok Company was awarded judgment. The Smedsruks recovered nothing on their claims for breach of contract. Accordingly, Pochynok Company is the successful party and is entitled to recover its attorneys fees pursuant to § 31-1-18(1).

Subsection (3) of § 31-1-18 is not applicable in this matter. Subsection (3) of § 31-1-18 was added to the statute during the course of this litigation. Under Utah law, substantive changes in legislation only operate prospectively. *See* discussion in *Wilde v. Wilde*, 35 P.3d 341 (Utah Ct. App. 2001) and *Johansen v. Johansen*, 2002 Ut. App. 75 (Ut. Ct. App. 2002). As such, the “offer of judgment” language contained in subsection (3) should not be applicable to this case.

The trial court erred when it allowed the garnishment of the funds in Pochynok Company’s bank account. The construction funds which were garnished in this matter were not owned by Pochynok Company. According to the decision in *Peterson v. Peterson*, 571 P.2d 1360 (Utah 1977), the fact that funds are held in a bank account titled in another person’s name, does not necessarily mean that the owner of the bank account owns the funds inside of that account. As Pochynok Company did not own the funds in the bank account, the trial court erred when it ruled the construction funds were subject to garnishment.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE 1

WHETHER POCHYNOK COMPANY, AS THE ONLY PARTY AWARDED RELIEF BY THE JURY AT THE TRIAL OF THIS MATTER, IS THE “SUCCESSFUL

PARTY” UNDER UTAH CODE ANN. § 31-1-18 AND IS THEREFORE ENTITLED
TO RECOVER ITS ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS?

The trial court erred when it determined the Smedsruks were the successful party in this litigation. At trial, Pochynok Company was the only party that received a recovery from the jury. The jury awarded the Smedsruks nothing on their claims. Under Utah statutory law, the successful party in litigation involving a mechanic’s lien is entitled to recover attorneys’ fees. Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-18(1) provides as follows:

Except as provided in § 38-11-107 and in subsection (2), in any action brought to enforce any lien under this chapter, the successful party shall be entitled to recover a reasonable attorneys’ fee, to be fixed by the court, which shall be taxed as costs in the action.

The Utah Court Of Appeals decision in *Whipple*, provides guidance on the scope and meaning of the term “successful party” in § 38-1-18. *Whipple* at 94. In *Whipple*, the court stated that the terms “successful party” and “prevailing party” are synonymous. *Whipple* at 96. Black’s Law Dictionary defines the term “prevailing party” as: “A party in whose favor a judgment is rendered, regardless of the damages awarded.” Black’s Law Dictionary 1145 (7th ed. 1999). When defining a “successful party,” Black’s Dictionary refers to the definition of prevailing party. *Id.* Under Utah decisions, a successful party includes, but is not limited to, one who successfully enforces or defends against a lien action. *Reeves v. Steinfelt*, 915 P.2d 1073, 1079 (Utah Ct. App. 1996); *Palombi v. D & C Builders*, 452 P.2d 325, 327-328 (1969).

Under the Utah Court of Appeals decision in *J.V. Hatch Constr., Inc. v. Kampros*, 971 P.2d 8, 15 (Utah Ct. App. 1998), a lien claimant’s prima facie evidence establishing

its right to attorneys' fees is met by showing that it is the prevailing party in the mechanics' lien cause of action.

The *Whipple* court quoted from the *Mountain States*¹ decision, which stated that typically, determining the prevailing party for purposes of awarding fees and costs is quite simple. *Whipple* at 95. The court explained, "Plaintiff sues defendant for money damages; if plaintiff is awarded a judgment, plaintiff has prevailed, and if defendant successfully defends and avoids an adverse judgment, defendant has prevailed." *Id.* This is the analysis which should be employed in the "typical" type case that was before the trial court. Because Pochynok Company was awarded \$7,076.56 by the jury, and defendant was awarded nothing, Pochynok Company, by definition, was the prevailing or successful party. As the successful party, Pochynok Company is entitled to recover its attorneys' fees. The trial court erred in determining that the Smedsruds was the successful party in this matter.

ISSUE 2

WHETHER THE RECENT VERSION OF UTAH CODE ANN. § 31-1-18, WHICH WAS MODIFIED BY ADDING THE "OFFER OF JUDGMENT" LANGUAGE DURING THE COURSE OF THIS LITIGATION, IS APPLICABLE TO THIS MATTER?

Subsection (3) of Section 38-1-18 does not apply to this case. The trial court ruled that the Smedsruds were entitled to attorney's fees under subsection (3) of Section 38-1-18 of Utah's Mechanic's Lien Law, a subparagraph added in 2001, effective April 30, 2001.

¹ *Mountain States Broad. Co. v. Neale*, 783 P.2d 551, 555-556 (Utah Ct. App. 1989)

When subparagraph (3) was added and became effective, this matter was then pending, the complaint having long been filed respecting work performed by Pochynok Company for the Smedsruks, for which Pochynok Company filed a Notice of Claim of Lien on October 19, 1999 about a year and a half before the statute was amended.

Subparagraph (3) of § 38-1-18 plainly affects substantive or vested rights in that it creates, defines and regulates rights and duties which may give rise to a cause of action by creating a method by which a contracting party defending against a mechanic's lien may recover post offer costs and fees against the mechanic's lien claimant if "the judgment finally obtained by the offeree is not more favorable" than "an offer of judgment" made by the defending party. While a procedural step is involved—that of making an offer of judgment, the statute plainly affects substantive rights. It plainly establishes a primary right not in existence at the time Pochynok Company's claim arose. *Such substantive legislation operates only prospectively.* See discussion in *Wilde v. Wilde*, 35 P.3d 341 (Utah Ct. App. 2001) and *Johansen v. Johansen*, 2002 Ut. App. 75 (Ut. Ct. App. 2002).²

² *Wilde v. Wilde* cites an earlier appeal in the same case, *Wilde v. Wilde*, 969 P.2d 438 (Ut. Ct. App. 1998) and *Department of Soc. Servs v. Higgs*, 656 P.2d 998 (Utah 1982). The first *Wilde* opinion held that a statutory amendment which conditioned modification of alimony on a showing of "extenuating circumstances" regulated the right to receive alimony and changed the law substantively and was not simply a different mode or form of procedure for enforcing existing rights, did not merely clarify the meaning of an earlier enactment. Because that change was substantive, it was held not to apply except prospectively. Adding subparagraph (3) to Section 38-1-18, was plainly a substantive change which operates only prospectively and does not change the rights of the parties as they existed when the work was done, the lien was filed and then suit was filed to foreclose the lien.

Even if the amendment was valid and did apply to this earlier filed case, the Smedsruuds would not be entitled to attorney's fees by reason of the Smedsruuds unaccepted offer of a \$40,000.00 judgment because the judgment to which Pochynok Company is entitled exceeds that offer in any event.

The verdict of the jury was \$7,076.56. The reasonable attorney's fee award to which plaintiff is entitled as the successful party under Section 38-1-18(1), and which is fully supported by the affidavit of Pochynok Company's counsel was over \$35,000.00. The total judgment that should be entered is therefore in excess of \$40,000.00 plus Plaintiff's costs, e.g., "more favorable" than the offer.

ISSUE 3

WHETHER CONSTRUCTION FUNDS WHICH ARE DEPOSITED BY PROJECT OWNER INTO A GENERAL CONTRACTOR'S BANK ACCOUNT, WHICH ACCOUNT WAS CREATED SPECIFICALLY FOR THE PROJECT OWNER'S PROJECT, AND WHICH FUNDS WERE SPECIFICALLY DESIGNATED BY THE PROJECT OWNER TO BE PAID TO SPECIFIC SUBCONTRACTORS WHO HAVE COMPLETED WORK ON THE PROJECT, ARE FUNDS OWNED BY THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR WHICH ARE SUBJECT TO GARNISHMENT BY THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR'S JUDGMENT CREDITORS?