2002

J. Pochynok Company, Inc. v. Gregory Smedsrud : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Second, we observe that OR.S 105.810(2) provides for an award of attorneys’ fees as “reimbursement of reasonable costs of litigation.” The distinction between attorneys’ fees as costs and attorneys’ fees as a consequence of substantive liability has proven critical in prior cases.”

984 P.2d at pages 908-909.

Similarly, in the case of *McCormack v. Town of Granite*, 913 P.2d 282 (Okla. 1996), the Supreme Court of Oklahoma stated that “statutes relating to the award of attorney fees to a prevailing party are procedural, and subject to retrospective operation.” (913 P.2d at page 285). *See also Qualls v. Farmers Insurance Company, Inc.*, 629 P.2d 1258 (Okla. 1981) (“The general rule that the statutes will be given prospective operation only . . . does not apply to statutes affecting procedure. . . .Taxing of attorneys’ fees as costs relates to a motive procedure.”).

Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-18(3) clearly falls within the holding of the foregoing authorities. Enacted in 2001, it modified the language of Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-18 (initially enacted well before this action was filed, which provided for attorneys' fees to be "taxed as costs in the action" to the "successful party") (see POINT II below). As enacted, subsection (3) did not enlarge, contract, modify or otherwise affect any contractual or other substantive right held by J. Pochynok Company, Inc. at the time this action began. It neither created nor revoked any substantive right giving rise to any civil cause of action.⁵

By definition, in fact, Section 38-1-18(3) has nothing to do with the substantive rights and obligations giving rise to the parties' claims in the litigation. It cannot be invoked until the case is already pending. By its express terms, however, the Offer of Judgment contemplated by the statute may, under Rule 68, be made at any time up to ten days prior to trial.

On its face, the statute is a procedural device for mitigating the impact of attorneys' fee awards on minuscule recoveries by over-reaching contractors. It is a procedural, cost-shifting device, and nothing more. Based on the clear weight of authority, it should be treated as remedial and procedural, rather than substantive, and given retroactive application to this case.

⁵ By definition, awards of attorneys' fees are not "damages" under law—see *Rodwater v. Old Republic Surety*, 854 P.2d 527 (Utah 1993); *Collier v. Heinz*, 827 P.2d 982 (UT App 1992).

B. Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-18(3) Clarifies the Prior Enactment.

Prior to April 1, 2001, Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-18 stated the following:

Except as provided in Utah Code Ann. § 38-11-107⁶, as between the owner and the contractor the court shall apportion the costs according to the right of the case, but in any action brought to enforce any lien under this chapter the successful party shall be entitled to recover a reasonable attorneys' fee, to be fixed by the court, which shall be taxed as costs in the action.

By adding subsection (3) in 2001, the legislature further illuminated its intent as to who was the “successful party” under § 38-1-18 as previously enacted. Should the property owner make an Offer of Judgment for more than the contractor’s ultimate recovery of trial, the legislature clearly concluded, the property owner – not the contractor—should be deemed the “successful party” under § 38-1-18 with respect to costs and attorneys’ fees incurred after the offer was made.

In other words, subsection (3) simply defined, directed and clarified the application of § 38-1-18 in situations where an Offer of Judgment had been made—an area clearly within the court’s discretion prior to 2001, as addressed at POINT II, below. As such, the 2001 enactment should be given retroactive application to a case pending prior to its effective date, particularly when the Offer of Judgment was made well after that time.

⁶ The reference section concerned mechanic’s lien claims on residential properties by subcontractors which is not applicable in the present case.

C. Had Plaintiff Accepted Defendants' Offer Of Judgment, They Would Have Been Bound By It.

In arguing that § 38-1-18(3) should have only prospective application, J. Pochynok Company ignores a fundamental inequity. Had J. Pochynok Company *accepted* Defendants'/Appellees' May 9, 2002 Offer of Judgment in this matter, it would have been statutorily entitled to entry of judgment thereon under Rule 68, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Defendants would have had no means of avoiding entry of judgment thereon by claiming that § 38-1-18(3) should be afforded only prospective application. Having elected to decline the offer, Plaintiff/Appellant should not be permitted to make the same self argument in his own interests.

With regard, finally, to J. Pochynok Company's observation that the attorneys' fees which it incurred in trial should be added to the amount of the verdict in determining whether or not its recovery exceeded the amount of the offer, the response is simple: J. Pochynok Company recovered no fees, at trial or thereafter. The judgment entered in this matter cannot be massaged in any way that makes it "more favorable than the offer"; accordingly, J. Pochynok Company's argument based on what might have happened, or even what should have happened, is moot.

POINT II

THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN AWARDING TO DEFENDANTS AND APPELLEES THEIR COSTS AND ATTORNEYS' FEES INCURRED PRIOR TO MAY 9, 2002.

Actions brought (or defended) under Utah's Mechanic's Liens Statute fall within a statutory exception to the general rule that, in civil litigation matters, the parties each bear their respective costs and attorneys' fees. Utah's Mechanic's Lien Act calls for an award of costs and attorneys' fees to the "successful party" in a lien foreclosure action.

The Utah Supreme Court has expressly held that the term "successful party" for purposes of award costs and attorneys' fees, must be viewed in light of two separate statutory provisions, which have been interpreted to complement each other. Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-18(1) provides as follows:

Except as provided in § 38-11-107 and in subsection (2), in any action brought to enforce any lien under this chapter, the successful party shall be entitled to recovery a reasonable attorneys' fee, to be fixed by the Court, which shall be taxed as costs in the action.

Utah Code Ann. § 31-1-17, however, reads as follows:

Except as provided in § 38-11-107, as between the owner and the contractor, the Court shall apportion the costs according to the right of the case. . . .

In the early case of *Shupe v. Menlove*, 18 Utah 2d 130, 417 P.2d 246 (1966), the Utah Supreme Court was faced with a case in which (precisely as in the case before the Court in this action) a building contractor sought to foreclose a mechanic's lien claim against a

property owner pursuant to a cost-plus-ten-percent building contract. There, as here, the jury had returned a verdict in favor of the contractor, but for substantially less than the amount of the contractor's mechanic's lien claim or the amount asserted at trial. The trial Court rejected the contractor's claim that he had been the "successful party" at trial and the Utah Supreme Court affirmed. In its opinion, the Court quoted the language of § 17 and 18 of the Mechanic's Lien Statute set out above, and then stated the following:

It is plain that these two sections relating to this subject should be construed together and that when attorney fees are awardable thereunder, they are to be treated as costs, which, as expressed in 38-1-17 the Court 'shall apportion the cost according to the right of the case.'

417 P.2d at 249.

More recent cases are in accord. J. Pochynok Company cites the Court to its decision in *AK&R Whipple Plumbing & Heating v. Guy*, 47 P.3d 92 (UT App 2002) for the proposition that a "successful party" in a mechanic's lien action must be determined by a mechanical, winner-take-all, net-recovery rule. Contrary to Plaintiff's/Appellant's argument, though, the *Whipple* decision stands for the proposition that a trial court's determination of who is the "successful (or prevailing) party" is *not* a mechanical process at all (unless all claims run one way only); that, where claims in a civil action run both ways and both parties are to a degree successful, the court must adopt "a flexible and reasoned approach", taking into consideration the practical and substantive outcome of the litigation. In fact, the court's opinion, while determining that "successful party" and "prevailing party" were synonymous terms, expressly noted that:

we do not suggest that whether a claim is ultimately determined to be enforceable under the conditions of Section 38-1-18 is not a factor to be considered in determining which party or parties prevail or are successful.

(47 P.3d at 95.) The court's language here has specific application to this case, where Smedsruds offered judgment for nearly six times Plaintiff's ultimate recovery, and thus became entitled as a matter of law to all attorneys' fees incurred after May 9, 2002 (the sum total of which far eclipsed Plaintiff's jury verdict). While *Whipple* rejected the strict "net recovery" rule in cases where (as here), both parties realize on claims, Smedsruds' statutory entitlement to post-May 9 attorneys' fees clearly dictates a net balance in their favor. Certainly, under the "flexible and reasoned approach" mandated by *Whipple*, the court's decision in this case is unassailable.

The *Whipple* decision, moreover, expressly invoked and affirmed the Court of Appeals' decision in *Occidental/Nebraska Fed. Savings Bank v. Mehr*, 791 P.2d 217 (Ut. Ct. App. 1990), the holding which expressly validates the Court's ruling in this action. In *Occidental*, the plaintiff brought a trust deed deficiency action against the Defendant, seeking also an award of costs and attorneys' fees (in that case under Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-32). The trial court observed that, of its six-figure deficiency claim, the plaintiff recovered only \$7,339.44. Based thereon, the trial court determined that, even though plaintiff obtained a judgment against Defendants, they were the "prevailing parties" by reason of the nominal amount thereof, and awarded them costs and attorneys' fees. The court of appeals affirmed:

At trial, Occidental obtained a judgment of approximately \$7300. It argues that a money judgment in its favor entitles it to attorneys' fees as the prevailing party. *As stated above,*

this court has recognized the need for a flexible and reasoned approach to making determinations of who is the prevailing party.

In the case at hand, Occidental claimed a balance due of over \$600,000 resulting from the trustee's sale held in April 1986 . . . The Mehrs were successful in defending against Occidental's claim for a \$600,000 deficiency based on the April sale. The Mehrs successfully demonstrated the validity of the December sale, thus the deficiency judgment was for the stipulated amount of \$7339.44. In light of the circumstances involved and the issues contested at trial, the trial court did not err in granting the Mehrs attorneys' fees and costs as the prevailing party.

791 P. 2d at 222. In *Occidental/Nebraska Fed. Savings*, then, as in the instant case, the trial court sustained an award of attorneys' fees to a party which successfully defeated all but a token amount of the opposing party's claim. *Occidental* directly defeats the claim of Plaintiff in this action to the effect that any award of a money judgment automatically entitles the recipient to the status of "prevailing party," and to an award of attorneys' fees as a matter of law. Rather, the Court must look to the realities of the case, and adopt the Court of Appeals' "flexible and reasoned approach" to an award of attorneys' fees. Under the *Occidental/Nebraska* decision, as affirmed in *Whipple*, the Court's ruling in this action should stand.

Finally, the "flexible and reasoned approach" dictated by *Occidental* and *Whipple* was affirmed and expanded in the recent Utah Supreme Court decision of *R.T. Nielson Company v. Cook* 2002 UT 11, 2002 Utah LEXIS 16 (Utah 2002):

As the court of appeals noted in *Mountain States Broadcasting Co. v. Neale*, determining the prevailing party for purposes of awarding fees can often times be quite simple. 783 P.2d 551, 555 (Ut. 1989). Where a plaintiff sues for

money damages, and plaintiff wins, plaintiff is the prevailing party; if defendant successfully defends and avoids adverse judgment, defendant has prevailed. *Id.* *This simple analysis cannot always be employed, however...*

Which party is the prevailing party is an appropriate question for the trial court. This question depends, to a large measure, on the context of each case, and, therefore, it is appropriate to leave this determination to the sound discretion of the trial court. We therefore review the trial court's determination as to who was the prevailing party under an abuse of discretion standard. Appropriate considerations for the trial court would include, but are not limited to, (1) contractual language, (2) the number of claims, counterclaims, cross-claims, etc., brought by the parties, (3) the importance of the claims relative to each other and their significance in the context of the lawsuit considered as a whole, and (4) the dollar amounts attached to and awarded in connection with the various claims. Based on these and other relevant factors, the trial court is in a better position than we are as an appellate court to decide which party is the prevailing party. In most cases involving language similar to the contractual language before us here, there can generally be only one prevailing party. [Citations omitted.] However, the standard articulated above will permit a case-by-case evaluation by the trial court, and flexibility to handle circumstances where both, or neither, parties may be considered to have prevailed.

2002 Utah Lexis at 25.

In this action, the “right of the case” plainly dictated that Defendants and Appellees Gregory and Louann Smedsrud be deemed the “successful parties” for purposes of an award of costs and attorneys’ fees, and the trial court so found. Under the *R.T. Nielson* standard, as well as that in *Occidental* and *Whipple*, the trial court’s determination was clearly the correct outcome, and should not be disturbed.

A. Defendants Defeated Virtually All of Plaintiff's Mechanic's Lien Claim.

To begin with, while Defendants acknowledge that Plaintiff realized a nominal recovery on this mechanics lien claim, the award amounted to less than 10% of his original mechanics lien claim, and barely 8% of his asserted amount at trial. The jury, as trier of fact, was clearly persuaded that Plaintiff's claim was not only excessive, but should be all but eclipsed by Defendants' claimed offsets.

It was Plaintiff's inability, and unwillingness, to furnish a consistent accounting on the project which necessitated adjudication of this matter to begin with. Defendants tried repeatedly, both before and after completion of the project, to persuade Mr. Pochynok to sit down with them and resolve the account. Rather than do so, Plaintiff simply made repeated demands for payment, the amount of the demand changing each time (often several times in the course of only a few days). Not only were the numbers inconsistent, but none would acknowledge a single penny of offset for improper work or delays.

Any practical application of the principals set out in the decision of *Shupe v. Menlove*, dictates that, apportioning costs and attorneys' fees between owners and contract "according to the right of the case" dictates that Smedsruuds – not J. Pochynok Company – were the "successful party," and should be awarded their costs and attorneys' fees.

B. Defendants' Statutory Right to Attorneys' Fees After May 9, 2002 Results in a Net Recovery in Their Favor.

Even to the extent the jury's verdict was nominally in Plaintiff's favor, the effect of that verdict is more than offset by Defendants' right to post-May 9 attorneys' fees as

set out under Point I, above. Under such circumstances, Defendants/Appellees must be deemed the successful litigants in this matter, and their attorneys' fees before May 9, 2002 likewise awarded. Attorneys' fees under the Mechanics Lien Act are to be awarded to the party or parties which are "ultimately successful" - *see Calcium v. Systems Communications Corp.*, 939 P. 2d 185 (UT App 1997).⁷

C. The Jury's Verdict Necessarily Implied the Filing of Two Wrongful Liens by Plaintiff.

As noted above, J. Pochynok Company filed two successive liens against Defendants'/Appellees' property in connection with its claims in this matter. The first, for \$150,000, was released not long after its filing; the second, for some \$74,000, remained pending through trial.

Yet the jury's verdict – clearly applying Defendants' offset claims – was for just over \$7,000 total. The conclusion is inescapable that both notices of lien were for amounts far in excess of that which J. Pochynok Company was ultimately entitled. The conclusion was likewise inescapable that the purpose of the liens' filing was to secure payment to Plaintiff for an amount greater than that actually owing.

⁷ Appellees recognize that J. Pochynok Company attempts to make this selfsame argument in an effort to defeat their May 9 Offer of Judgment (Appellant's Brief at p. 14). The difference, though, is fundamental: Defendants and Appellees *were* awarded their costs and fees after May 9. The trial court, in other words, reviewed the issues in their correct order. It looked first to the amount of the verdict, and determined it to be not "more favorable than the offer", thus mandating an award of fees after the date of the offer. With those fees included, Defendants and Appellees clearly became the "successful parties" under the earlier statute. Plaintiff's/Appellant's approach would have this Court turn such analysis on its head, revoking fees which the trial court *did* award, granting fees which it did *not* award, and reconstructing the balance of success in disregard of determinations by both the trial judge and the jury.

Under Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-25, the filing of an excessive lien under the circumstances set out above constitutes a misdemeanor.⁸ It is self-evident that, in taxing costs (including attorneys' fees) "according to the right of the case," as mandated by Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-17 and *Shupe v. Menlove*, the Court took into account the fact that the mechanics lien which Plaintiff sought to vindicate by this action (as well as its predecessor) were shown at trial to be excessive, wrongful and illegal on their face. Under such circumstances, Defendants and Appellees were properly awarded their attorneys' fees as the "successful parties"

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REJECTING PLAINTIFF'S/APPELLANT'S OBJECTIONS TO DEFENDANTS'/APPELLEES' WRIT OF GARNISHMENT TO ZIONS FIRST NATIONAL BANK

J. Pochynok Company's most mystifying claim on appeal is that the lower court committed reversible error in permitting Defendants and Appellees to garnish, from J. Pochynok Company's own bank account at Zions First National Bank, funds admittedly on deposit there at the time the writ of garnishment was served. J. Pochynok Company claims that these funds were not really its property; that they were being held

⁸ Since this action was filed, Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-25 has been amended to permit a right of civil recovery for wrongful lien filing. In addition, Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-18(2) has been added since the filing of this action, statutorily denying to a mechanic's lien claimant the right to recover any attorneys' fees whatever in the event that its lien filing is adjudged wrongful. While these provisions were not in effect at the time Plaintiff's notices of mechanic's liens were filed in this action, they plainly codified what was already clear in the law – that the pursuit of excessive mechanic's liens is contrary to public policy.

“in trust” for subcontractors on another job. This argument, however, suffers to fatal defects, one procedural and the other substantive.

A. J. Pochynok Company presented no evidence to the trial court to support any challenge to the writ of garnishment.

As noted above, J. Pochynok Company filed a request for hearing on September 23, 2002 with respect to the writ of garnishment returned by Zions First National Bank on September 12, 2002.⁹ The procedure thus invoked is set out at Rule 64D(h), U.R.C.P., which reads in pertinent part as follows:

The Defendant or any other person who owns or claims an interest in the property subject to garnishment that is garnisheed may request a hearing to claim any exemption to the garnishment, or to challenge the issuance of the writ or the accuracy of the answers to interrogatories. . . . The request for a hearing shall be in the form to enable the defendant or other person to specify the grounds upon which the defendant or other person challenges the issuance of the writ or the accuracy of the answers to interrogatories. . . .

J. Pochynok Company’s request for hearing (R. 724-725) requests a hearing to claim an exemption to the Zions’ writ of garnishment, but states only that “the basis for the exemption is that the funds in J. Pochynok Company, Inc.’s account are owned by other persons or entities” (R. 724-725). The court accordingly scheduled a hearing for

⁹ The court’s disposition of Pochynok’s objections to the writ of garnishment, held, inter alia, that the request for hearing had been untimely filed, being more than ten days after the return on the writ of garnishment. This was due to a misstatement by Defendants/Appellee’s counsel at the hearing, given that the tenth day fell on Sunday, September 22, 2002. Given the other failings in Pochynok’s proof, and the substance of his objections, the error was harmless. Moreover, this issue was disposed of pursuant to Pochynok’s Rule 59 U.R.C.P. motion, from which no appeal is taken.

October 7, 2002. No further submittals, statements, documents or claims were forthcoming from Pochynok before the hearing

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